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This claim for temporary total disability (TTD) compensation, permanent total disability (PTD) compensation, statutory minimum attorney's fees costs and interest came before us in Anchorage, Alaska on September 16, 1988.  Employee was present and represented by attorney Michael Jensen.  Defendants were represented by attorney James Hutchins.  The record originally closed at the conclusion of the hearing on September 16, 1988.  On October 4,  1988 Employee petitioned to reopen the record to submit additional evidence. on October 7 , 1988 Defendants opposed this petition.  The record closed on October 12, 1988 after our review and consideration of this petition.


Employee is 53 years old.  She attended school in Texas and completed the fourth or fifth grade.  She subsequently lived and worked at home before moving to California at age 23.


Employee worked on a part‑time basis in the 1960's as a nurse's aide.  Her job responsibilities included lifting, feeding and bathing patients.  She was assisted by a nurse in writing required on the job.  In approximately 1965 she terminated this employment to take care her family.  Employee testified that her husband did all the shopping when Employee had young children.


Employee next worked for the Salvation Army in Seattle, Washington for six to seven months in 1983.  Her job responsibilities included sorting and placing tags on clothes.  She did not include sale prices on these tags.


Employee moved to Fairbanks, Alaska in 1983.  In approximately September 1 983 , one month after arriving in Fairbanks, she secured a job with the Denali Center as a
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housekeeper.  Her job responsibilities included mopping, washing floors, windows and walls, running a buffer, cleaning bathrooms, cleaning windows and other general housekeeping duties.  She was required to stand and walk on a continual basis on this job.


Employee was required to fill out daily reports of her activities on this job.  Employee testified that her daughter prepared a chart, with figures representing each of Employee's job duties and the appropriate written description of the duty, which Employee would use in filling out these daily reports.


Employee continued with this work through January of 1985. she was paid $7.84 per hour based on a five‑day work week. (January 28, 1985 Report of Occupational injury or illness).


On January 28, 1985 Employee sustained injuries as a result of a slip and fall which occurred while she was working for Denali Center.  Employee testified that she immediately experienced pain in her right ankle, right hip and side, lower back and left index finger as a

result of this slip and fall.

On January 29, 1985 Employee saw Charles Steiner, M.D., a family
practitioner in 

Fairbanks, Alaska.  Dr. Steiner diagnosed a [t1hird degree right ankle sprain." (Dr.  Steiner's

 January 29, 1985 `medical report).  Dr. Steiner reported no fracture finding on                 x‑ray.      

Dr. Steiner's report also reflected ankle, hip and left      index finger pain.


Employee subsequently saw Dr. Steiner and Dr. John W. Joosee, M.D., through approximately September 1985 in Fairbanks.  Employee also received physical therapy treatments during this period.


In June of 1985 Alaska Placement Services, Inc. (APS) began providing vocational rehabilitation services to Employee.  On June 26, 1985 Dr. Joosee prepared a Physical Capacities Evaluation (PCE) reflecting, among other things, that Employee could sit for eight hours per day, stand and walk for one hour per day, lift up to 50 pounds occasionally and bend, squat, climb, twist, crawl and reach above shoulder level occasionally.


On July 15, 1985 Sharron Mahoney, an occupational therapist with APS, prepared a transferable skills assessment utilizing Employee's  previous work history, present physical capacities and educational levels.  The report reflected that Employee had limited skills.  Ms. Mahoney suggested that "short‑term training may be a consideration, i.e., cash register proficiency or ten‑key calculator proficiency." (Mahoney's July 15, 1985 vocational rehabilitation report, pp. 1‑2).  Ms. Mahoney found that Employee's job possibilities were "limited" and those which were available required "limited" on‑the‑job training. (id. at 2) . The jobs identified by Ms. Mahoney included laundry worker, sorter/pricer and cleaner (lab equipment).
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Ms. Mahoney also made some informal labor market contacts in approximately July of 1985.  These contacts included calls to the Salvation Army, Bishop is Attic, Lamont's stores, Nordstrom's and Aurora Parking.  The Salvation Army indicated that they would strongly consider hiring Employee. (Mahoney's July 18, 1985 vocational rehabilitation report, p. 3).  Bishop's Attic reported that at times positions were available, though none were open at that time.  Lamont's indicated that they sometimes had positions for installing merchandise tags and placing items on hangers.  This work paid at a rate of $ .00 per hour.  Lamont's indicated that they would be interested in working with vocational rehabilitation.  Ms. Mahoney recommended that further labor market research be undertaken and that Employee complete an application for work at the Salvation Army.



On August 26, 1 85 Ms. Mahoney prepared a Vocational Rehabilitation Services P an for Employee as a sorter/tagger or a self‑service attendant cashier with on‑the‑job training.  Ms. Mahoney reported, "Although not inclusive, these positions appear to be readily available in the market and do not require extensive reading nor standing and walking." (Mahoney's August 26, 1985 vocational rehabilitation report I P.)



On September 4, 1985 Stephen Dornburg, a vocational specialist with APS, reported on vocational testing given to Employee.  Mr. Dornburg stated that Employee was below average in reading, arithmetic and intellectual ability.  Mr. Dornburg suggested that Employee undergo tutoring in reading through the Literacy Council of Alaska and reported that he would expect a considerable improvement in all tested areas including overall intellectual functioning within 90 days,



On September 16, 1985 Ms. Mahoney reported that Employee had made contact with the Literacy Council and participated in achievement testing.  Employee stated to Ms. Mahoney, however, that she planned to move to Anchorage on approximately September 27,  1985. Ms. Mahoney there recommended compensation be placed on a hold status.



On October 2, 1985 Employee saw Robert E. Geiringer, M.D.,

in Anchorage, Alaska for evaluation of her right ankle and left index finger.  Dr. Geiringer diagnosed a "posterior tibialis tendon rupture with talonavicular ligament rupture possibly as well." (Dr.  Geiringer October 2, 1985 medical report).  Dr. Geiringer recommended that Employee receive physical therapy.



On October 2, 1985 George Ladyman, M.D., took x‑rays of Employee's right ankle and left index finger.  According to Dr. Ladyman there was no evidence of a right ‑ankle fracture or dislocation and no acute

 bony abnormality of Employee's left index finger. (Dr.  Ladyman's October 3, 1985 medical report) . On

October 21, 1985 Cherri virtue of Chugach Physical Therapy reported
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that Employee had been seen several times per week for ultrasound and exercise of Employee's right ankle and foot and had received care for her index finger.


On October 31, 1985 Dr. Geiringer performed a posterior tibial tendoplasty of Employee's right leg. (Dr.  Geiringer's October 31, 1985 medical report). Employeee saw Dr. Geiringer again on November 15, 1985, December 4, 1985 and December 18, 1985. (Dr.  Geiringer's December 9, 1985 and December 18, 1985 medical reports).


Following her move to Anchorage Employee was referred to Collins and Associates, Inc. for further vocational rehabilitation assistance.  On December 9, 1985 Heather Double, a vocational rehabilitation consultant with Collins and Associates, reported that "afterr multitudinous unsuccessful attempts to reach Ms. Summerville by phone, this consultant spoke with her on 10/21/85." (Double's December 9, 1985 vocational rehabilitation report, p. 1).  Ms. Double stated that Employee reported an interest in switchboard operation or simple sewing." (id. at 2).  Ms. Double further stated that, based on Dr. Geiringer's recommendation, Employee intended to follow through with an educational program at the Adult Learning Center.

Ms. Double also reported on December 9, 1985 that on November 20, 1985 she spoke with Employee who indicated that "she was incurring gynecological problems that had been diagnosed as menopause.  Based on her complaints of headaches and intermittent       sweating, 

she stated that in general she felt poorly and she had no interest or desire in interacting with

 individuals other than necessary physician visits." (id. at 2).  Employee further indicated that

"she was not interested with any assistance with reading or writing until at least the first of the

 year, based on her foot soreness and difficulties with menopause." (id. at 3) Employee's file was

 then placed on a hold status.


Employee continued to see Dr. Geiringer from January through April 1986.  On

 January 6, 1986 Dr. Geiringer reported that Employee was complaining of, among other things,

 epigastric pain "which could be either gallbladder, hiatus hernia or some other gastric type of

 problem." (Dr.  Geiringer's January 8, 1986 medical report).  On February 5, 1986 Dr. Geiringer

 reported that Employee's right foot was "getting along fairly well." (Dr.  Geiringer's February 5,

 1986 medical report) . Dr. Geiringer also examined Employee for her back injury.  Dr. Geiringer

 found "an element of sciatica on the right side . . . due to the awkward gait that she uses." (id.).

 Dr. Geiringer felt this would subside in time and referred Employee to Back School.


On February 5, 1985 Dr. Layman's took x‑rays of Employee's lumbar spine.  On

 February 6, 1986 Dr. Ladyman reported
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congenital deformity, no acute bony abnormality."      (Dr. Ladyman's February 6, 1986 medical report).



       On March 31, 1986  Geiringer reported that:

So far as I am concerned, the foot problem is treated and it is only a matter of time as to when she is able to return to normal activities. think what I am going to do is to refer her to Dr. Fu for rehabilitation of her leg and for management of her back and headache problem.


On April 2, 19 Dr. Fu evaluated Employee for chronic problems with her neck, low back, right leg and headaches.  On May 1, 1986 Dr. Fu reported that Employee had numerous problems not directly related to her right ankle injury. (Dr.  Fu’s May 1, 1986 letter to Wilton Denali Custom Services).  These problems included chronic on going sinusitis Which needed "to be looked into" to hopefully take care of her chronic headaches (id.). Dr. Fu stated that he would attempt to have Ms. Double begin looking into vocational possibilities for Employee.


On May 16, 1986 Ms. Double reported that she had spoken with Dr. Geiringer and Dr. Fu concerning Employee.  According to Ms. Double Dr. Geiringer reported that Employee's "foot should now be reaching medical stability." (Double's may 16, 1986 vocational rehabilitation report, pp‑ 2‑3).  Dr. Geiringer did not know the reason for Employee's co back pain.      Dr. Geiringer recommended physical therapy and Back School.  Dr. Geiringer did not recommend return to work and did not furnish work restrictions though he indicated that these restrictions would be provided 11 soon." (Id. at 3).  Ms. Double reported that Employee felt that physical therapy sessions and Back School had helped though she continued to be "severely incapacitated, in her opinion.,' (Id. at 2).


On June 18, 1986 Dr. Fu reported that Employee needed short‑time physical therapy and biofeedback to see if her headaches could be improved.  He referred Employee to a psychologist and a physical therapist. On June 20, 1986 Mahlon J. Shoff, M.D.,   that  reported Employee h d eft maxillary sinusitis." He stated that Employee could ret her normal work despite these problems.


On June 25, 1986 With Richard Enter, Ph.D., a clinical psychologist.  Employee was administered the  Minnesota multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI).  According to Dr. Enter the test pointed toward depression,  anxiety and clearly evidenced an overconcern about physical and health‑related matters:
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and depression are not easily accepted or admitted.  Rather they tend to focus on the physical. Profiles Such as this pretty clearly suggest some emotional overlay complicating complaints of physical disorder.

(Dr.  Enter's September 4, 1986 letter to Becky Tolley).



On July 14, 19S6 Dr. Fu reported that he had spoken with Ms. Double concerning Employee.  Dr. Fu stated that "I do not see why Mrs. Summerville cannot at this time be involved in a sedentary or voluntary program while she is doing her physical therapy." (Dr.  Fu's July 14, 1986 medical report).



On September 15, 1986 Dr. Fu reported that 11[iln as far as a vocational goal is concerned, I fully agree that aside from her need to be literate, she can go ahead and start an OJT." (Dr.  Fu's September 15, 1986 medical report). on October 1, 1986 Dr. Fu stated that Employee should become involved with an adult education program.  He further stated that while Employee was involved in this, and an OJT program he would gradually wean Employee off physical therapy and have her to do things on her own.



On November 12, 1986 Patricia Scott, a vocational rehabilitation counselor with Collins and Associates, reported that on October 9, 1986 Employee had begun a Read to Succeed Program.  Employee was tested on entry into the program as having a 3.4 grade point level.  Employee's counselor on the program reported to Ms. Scott that after "speaking and working with Ms. Summerville, she felt verv positive about her progress, and felt there would be no problem in increasing Ms, Summerville's Reading level up two grades," (Scott's November 12, 1986 vocational rehabilitation report, pp. 5‑6.). During the course of this program Employee reported to Ms. Scott that she was experiencing headaches and anxiety.  Employee wanted to continue the program at home. it was agreed, however, that the classes would continue outside the home.



Ms. Scott also reported on November 12, 1986 that on October 17, 1986 Dr. Fu stated that Employee would have no problem returning to a light sedentary form of work.  Ms. Scott recommended that a vocational rehabilitation plan be submitted for approval.



On December 10, 1986 Ms. Scott reported that Employee had completed the Read to Succeed Program increasing her reading level from a very low fourth grade to a medium sixth grade level.  Ms. Scott reported that she would continue with vocational rehabilitation efforts to identify, suitable gainful employment for Employee within 30 days.  Possible job categories included a receptionist, file clerk or other clerk positions.  Employee continued to complain of feeling dizzy, drowsy and experiencing discomfort.



On January 22, 1987 Dr. Fu reported that Employee could be involved in a sedentary to light duty work with a primary restriction against prolonged standing.  Dr. Fu reported that he would schedule Employee for a permanent impairment rating.
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On January 23, 1987 Ms. Scott reported that Employee was not sure she Was able to return to work.  Employee complained of headaches and back and ankle spasms.  Ms. Scott reported that on December 15, 1986 Employee was told there was a job opening as a front desk clerk.  Ms. Double additionally reported that Employee was interested in settling her case and that Dr. Fu had concerns relating to Employee's motivation to return to work.

On February 3, 1987 Employee was admitted to Humana Hospital Emergency Room complaining 

of 

chest pain.  On February 4, 1987 John DeKeyser, M.D., 7rovided medication and advised Employee

to use antiacids as needed; avoid fatty foods and stop smoking.

On February 26, 1 87 Dr. Fu rated Employee as having a

seven percent impairment on the lower leg or a three percent total impairment of the whole person.  Dr. Fu stated

 that Employee's low back diffuse discomfort, neck discomfort and headaches were not taken into consideration

 becau se they were not ratable under the AMA Guidelines.


On March 12, 1987 Dr. Fu prepared a PCE for Employee.  Dr. Fu reported that Employee could sit

 for eight hours per day, could stand and walk for four hours per day, could lift up to 20 pounds occasionally,

 could squat nd climb occasionally, could bend and crawl frequently and coul twist and reach above shoulder

 level continuously.  Dr. Fu felt that Employee's capacities would increase and reported that Employee "[h]as

 unrelated mental problems i.e., anxiety, muscle tension headaches, sinusitis, tension backaches." (Dr.  Fu's

 March 12, 1987 PCE).  Dr. Fu also reported on March 12, 1987 that Employee had no hip impairment and that

 her low back disco ort, neck discomfort and headaches were not related to her ankle injury.

On March 18, 1987 Scott reported that Employee wanted to settle her case as so as possible.

Employee complained of discomfort in her ankle ea, leg, back and head, Employee

reported that these problems, in conjunction with recent heart problems, prevented her from returning to

 work.  Employee stated that she was not happy with Dr. Fu's rating.  MS.  Scott reported that She would

 make efforts to identify jobs in the labor market.


On March 23, 1987 Employee met again with Ms. Scott and reported that she was not physically

 able to return to any employment at that time. (Scott's April 28, 1987 vocational rehabilitation report) ‑
On

 March 31, 1987 Dr. Ladyman took x‑rays of Employee's right hip.  On April 1, 1987 Dr. Ladyman reported no significant radiographic abnormality." (Dr.  Ladyman's April 1, 1987 medical report).


On April 7, 1987 Ms. Scott stated to Employee that a job had been identified at Peacock Cleaners that would initially be part‑time and would work into a full‑time position as soon as Employee was able. (Scott's April 28, 1987 vocational report).  On

‑7‑

 Fannie M. Summerville v. Denali Center

April 7, 1987 a job analysis was completed by Ms. Scott for this position.  On April 15, 1987 Employee stated that she was not able to work and wanted to settle her case. (Id. at 2).  On April 23, 1987 Peacock Cleaners approved the job analysis and stated that they were interested in interviewing Employee. (id. at 3) on April 27, 1987 Dr. Fu approved work for Employee consisting of assembling clothes, counter work and marking clothes." (Dr.  Fu's April 27, 1987 letter to Ms. Scott).


On May 5, 1987 Dr. Fu reported that Employee handed Dr. Fu a letter from the Southcentral Counseling Center (SCC) concerning Employee's inability to work because of an anxiety disorder.  Dr. Fu stated that Employee's medical condition was really not changing and that he saw no reason to see her often.  On May 11, 1987 Dr. Fu reported Ehat he had spoken with Ms. Scott and approved counter work for Employee assembling and marking clothes.


On June 16, 1987 Ms. Scott confirmed that Dr. Fu had approved a position for Employee as a counter person for Peacock Cleaners.  Employee indicated on may 17, 1987, however, that she would not take the position due to her physical problems. (Scott's June 16, 1987 vocational rehabilitation report, p. 2).  Employee complained of headaches, a heart hernia, psychiatric problems and problems with her hip, leg and ankle.  Emplovee stated that if it were not for these problems she would accept the position with Peacock Cleaners.


Defendants paid Employee TTD compensation from January 29, 1985 to May 11, 1987.  On May 15, 1987 Defendants filed a Notice of Controversion.


On July 27, 1987 Ms. Scott reported that she had contacted Employee on July 6, 8, 9, 14, 21 and 23, 1987 to discuss several possible job openings.  These openings included a possible position with Peacock Cleaners as a counter person.  Employee was informed that this job would be primarily a public relations position as customers came in to drop off clothing.


On August 4, 1987 Dr. Fu reported that work as a receptionist for Peacock Cleaners was "well within Fannie's capabilities given her right ankle/foot problem." (Dr.  Fu's August 4, 1987 medical report).  Dr. Fu also wrote, "Considering all the other medical problems she has had consisting of heart problems, esophageal reflux problems and the medication she has to take and on reviewing this job description, this is not a demanding job and would probably not be a significant factor in being limited." (id.). Finally, Dr. Fu reported that Employee brought up two additional concerns, relating to this possible job, that she might be allergic to fumes and chemicals and that she was illiterate.


On August 21, 1987 Ms. Scott reported that she had made several unsuccessful attempts to contact Employee on August 10, 11 and 12, 1987 concerning the possible job with Peacock Cleaners.  On
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August 24, 1987 Richard Washington of Peacock Cleaners wrote that Peacock Cleaners had inten ed to provide Employee a two‑month OJT program with a goal of hiring Employee on a permanent, full‑time basis at $6.50 per hour with the possibility of benefits.  However, based on Employee's fai lu to show "any interest in returning to work with my company" Mr . Washington wrote that he no longer had any interest in hiring Emp loyee. (Washington's August 24, 1987 letter),



on August 26, 1987 Employee wrote that she had told Ms. Scott on August 7, 1987 that she was moving and gave Ms. Scott a new address.  She wrote that she was either at her old or new address on August 10, 11 and 12, 1987 but did not receive a call from Ms. Scott.



On September 9, 1987 Ms. Scott reported that she had told Employee on August 7, 1987 that either Ms. Scott would contact Employee on August 10, 1987 concerning the position with Peacock Cleaners or Employee should contact Ms. Scott on October 10, 1987.  Ms. Scott reported that "Ms.  Summerville indicated that she would and abruptly hung the phone up.  It should be understood that this counselor's impression of that phone call indicated unfriendliness and an inappropriateness with regards to communicating with this counselor in a direct fashion." (Scott's September 9, 1987 vocational rehabilitation report, p. 3).



On September 15, 1987 a formal rehabilitation conference was held before Deborah Tor erson, Acting Rehabilitation Administrator.  Ms. Torgerson a ssed the issue of whether Employee was non‑cooperative in may 1987 and August of 1987 concerning rehabilitation efforts whether Employer was obligated to provide additional rehabilitation services.  In her October 13, 1987 Decision and Order Ms. Torgerson found that Employer had agreed to start up rehabilitation services again following may of 1987 and that in August of 1987 the "case involved lack of communication

 as well as lack of understanding, rather than non‑cooperation." (October 13, 1987 D&O, p. 6). Ms.

 Torgerson found that Employee was entitled to a vocational rehabilitation services plan with not

 more than 60 days of direct job placement/on‑the‑job training.  No appeal was taken of this decision and order.



On October 30, 1S17 a vocational rehabilitation services plan was approved by all parties for Employee's return to work at a dry cleaning establishment as a counter attendant.



On November 12, 1987 Dr. Fu prepared another PCE.  Dr. Fu reported that Employee could sit, stand or walk for four hours in a normal working day, could lift up to 35 pounds occasionally, could bend frequently and could squat, climb, twist, crawl and reach above should level Dr.Fu again stated that he occasionally.     Dr expected Employee's capabilities to increase.  

Dr. Fu felt that        
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Employee was using a crutch primarily for safety and not for weight bearing relief.


On December 4, 1987 Terry Blais, a rehabilitation consultant with Collins and Associates, reported that an initial interview had occurred with Employee on November 4, 1987.  Employee subsequently reported to Collins and Associates on Mondays, Wednesdays and Fridays and called each Tuesday and Thursday.  Employee made telephone calls, reviewed want ads, registered with Job Service and practiced writing applications and interview techniques.  PlaiE@; and Employee also went to dry cleaning establishments and completed employment applications.


Ms. Blais reported on December 4, 1987 that Employee completed the Menninger Return to Work Scale and two VDARE tests.  The Menninger test reflected a return‑to‑work aptitude of less than six percent given "factors of her education, age and receiving public assistance." (Blais December 4, 1987 vocational rehabilitation report, p. 7, Menninger test results).  The VDARE tests resulted in an employment match for Employee as a "children's assistant." (Blais December 4, 1987 vocational rehabilitation report, p. 7).


On December 17, 1987 David Williams, a psychologist with SCC, wrote to Ms. Blais.  Dr. Williams stated that several times during the course of his treatment of Employee since June 1, 1987 for "anxiety disorder" Employee had expressed that her symptoms escalated around children.  Dr. Williams did not believe that "it would be advisable for Fannie to obtain a childcare position at this time." (Dr, Williams December 17, 1987 letter to Ms. Blais).


On December 23, 1987 Collins and Associates reported that a Wide Range Achievement Test (WRAT) had been administered to Employee.  Employee scored at a reading level of third grade, third month, arithmetic level of second grade, seventh month and spelling level of seventh month of kindergarten when compared to adults in her age group.  The report concluded that work for Employee "must be such that there are no reading, writing or computational requirements."

Ms. Blais testified at hearing that she continued to provide assistance to Employee 

through the end of December 1987.  Ms. Blais stated that she located approximately 69 job leads

 over this 60‑day period. She felt that all these potential employers fit within the restrictions set forth in Dr. Fu's PCE.  Several of these potential employers were eliminated because they required reading skills in excess of those possessed by Employee.


Ms. Blais testified that approximately 30 of these contacts fell within the physical restrictions imposed by Dr. Fu and within Employee's vocational skills.  The job category initially considered by Ms. Blais was as a laundry worker.  Ms. Blais testified that efforts to find Employee a job in this field were
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unsuccessful because no jobs were available at that time and because placement in these positions would have required training for Employee to make change.  Ms. Blais next considered a potential placement for Employee as a child or adult care attendant.  Ms. Blais felt that either of these jobs fit within Dr. Fu's restrictions and Employee s reading skills.  Efforts to place Employee in the child car field were discontinued based on Dr. Williams' December 17, 1987 letter.  Ms. Rlais testified that approximately four positions were identified in the adult care field that fit within Employee's restrictions.  Ms. Blais stated that Employee was unsuccessful in finding work in this field due to

the variety of physical blems reported by Employee on her work applications.


Ms. Blais testifz that various other job placements were not available due to Employee's inability to read and write.  Ms. Blais felt that Employee s illiteracy was a primary problem in finding work.  At the c nclusion of this 60‑day job placement assistance, in the end of December 1987, Ms. Blais felt that Employee should follow through with an adult learning program to upgrade her skills.


On February 6, 1988 Employee was admitted to Providence Hospital complaining of chest pain.  On February 8, 1988 Employee underwent a left heart Catheterization and coronary angiography.  The results of these tests were normal and Employee was discharged from the hospital.


On April 21, 1988 Dr. Williams reported that Employee was unable to return to work

I believe that loyment is probably an unrealistic goal for Ms. Summerville at this time.  She reports a number of disabilities that are not capable with most work environments, including the inability to stand or sit for long periods of time, chronic and severe headaches, confusion and impaired short‑term memory, hypersensitivity to noise, and difficulty concentrating.  In addition, recent testing 11 ns and Associates) has shown she is functionally unable to read, write or compute numbers.  She recently participated in intellectual, personality and neuropsychological assessment here, with preliminary results suggesting moderate to severe impairment of ability to interact with the environment.

(Dr.  Williams' April 21, 1988 medical report).


On April 27, 1988 Mary Moran, a rehabilitation counselor with Collins and Associates, reported that three dry cleaning establishments in Anchorage had advertised for counter help since January 1988.  She stated that "it is clear that there are intermittent openings for counter help." (Moran's April 27, 1988 vocational rehabilitation report, p. 6).  Ms. Moran also stated that Employee's "biggest barrier" to returning to suitable gainful employment was her lack of literacy. (Id. at 6).  Ms. Moran felt
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that this problem could not be successfully addressed in less than five years.  Ms. Moran noted, however, that a number of resources had been made availabl8 to Employee since 1985 to assist her in pursuing remedial education but that she had not "consistently utilized" these resources to date. (id. at 6) . "The lack of movement in this area over the past three years does not bode well for future success.1, (Id. at 6).


A second formal rehabilitation conference was held before Ms. Torgerson on May 2, 1988 to consider whether Employee was entitled to further rehabilitation services. in her May 11, 1988 Decision and Order Ms. Torgerson noted that Employee did not feel that she could return to work.  Ms. Torgerson found that Employee was functionally illiterate, unable to read a newspaper, a phone book or other materials and unable to perform simple math such as addinge subtracting or making small change.  Ms. Torgerson also found that Employee had some cognitive deficits.  Finally, Ms. Torgerson found that Employee had numerous non work‑related physical and psychological problems.  Ms. Torgerson concluded that Employee was not entitled to further rehabilitation services under AS 23.30.041(e)@ Ms. Torgerson felt that these services would not be likely to return Employee to suitable gainful employment.  She felt that additional services would not provide Employee with reasonably attainable work given her age, education, physical arid psychological capacities and previous occupation.  In so concluding Ms. Torgerson noted that Employee had received several years of unsuccessful vocational rehabilitation services and that there was little or no evidence that Employee could be returned to suitable gainful employment within the seventy‑four week limit set forth in AS 23.30.041(g). This Decision and Order was not appealed.


Employee testified at the September 16, 1988 hearing.  She sEated that she did not feel able to go back to work due to a variety of physical problems.  Her ankle continues to be a problem. it hurts and swells.  She can't walk on it, can't do too much, can't go anywhere, has to keep weight off it and can't stand too long.  Her hip hurts, gets tired and aches.  Her low back hurts and she has muscle spasms in her leg and back, Her finger is better but it gets sore once in a while.  Employee also has headaches, nightmares, anxiety, muscle spasms and a hiatal hernia. she testified that her headaches, change of life, difficulty in concentrating, hiatal hernia, and stress began after her October 1985 surgery.


Employee stated that she was ill during the 60‑day period when she received job placement assistance from Collins and Associates and does riot feel that she could have done any of the work for which she applied.
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Employee testified that she can add a little and sometimes tries to read the Bible.  She has a small bank account.  She is accompanied by someone when she buys groceries.


Employee applied for Social Security benefits on grounds of her disability resulting from her heart, hiatal hernia, change of life and emotional problems.  Employee testified at hearing that this application was originally denied and that she had asked for reconsideration


William P. Skilling, a vocational rehabilitation counselor with William P. Skilling & Company, Kirkland, Washington, also testified at the September 16, 1988 hearing.  Mr. Skilling has a Bachelor of Arts degree in psychology from the University of Washington, a Master of Arts degree in rehabilitation from Seattle University and is a certified rehabilitation vocational counselor in Oregon and Washin He has worked in vocational rehabilitation since 1972


Mr. Skilling has met or spoken with Employee.  He did, however, review all available medical and vocational reports relating to Employee.  He believes that sufficient information was contained within the materials reviewed to enable him to evaluate Employee's ability to return to suitable gainfal employment.


Following his re iew of Employee's file Mr. Skilling prepared a Labor Market Survey to determine whether suitable gainful employment existed.  Following completion of this survey Mr. Skilling identified 16 jobs in the Anchorage labor market which he felt Employee could do given her "age, education, previous experience and physical limitations resulting from her industrial injury." (Skilling's September 13, 1988 vocational rehabilitation report, p. 6).


Mr. Skilling subsequently consulted approximately 24 or 25 employers in the Anchorage area within the various job categories identified for Employee.  These categories included photocopying machine operator, automatic photofinishing operator, service establishment counter attendant, laundry presser, embroidery machine operator/monogram and letter pa8ter, adult companion, laundry folder, sewing machine operator and surveillance svstem monitor.  Mr. Skilling testified that these employments were within Dr. Fu's November 12, 1987 PCE.  Mr. Skillincr further testified that employment as a photocopier machine operator, automatic photofinishing operator, laundry presser, monogram and letter paster, laundry folder and sewing machine operator required a first grade level of math and language skills; that employments as a service establishment at endant and embroidery machine operator required a fourth grade level of math and language skills; that employment as a surveillance system monitor required a first grade level of math skills and a seventh grade of language skills; and that employment as an adult companion required a fourth grade level
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of math skills and a seventh grade level of language skills.  Mr. Skilling reported that pay for full‑time employment in these jobs varied between $5.00 and $15.00 per hour.


In concluding that Employee was able to do these jobs Mr. Skilling noted that, according to the U.S. Department of Labor's figures, TImployee's prior work as a homemaker, nurse's aide and tagger for the Salvation Army required a fourth grade level of math skills and up to a ninth grade level of language skills.  Mr. Skilling further noted that skills for many employments were "job specific" and that an individual could develop skills for these particular jobs while on the job. (Skilling's hearing testimony). Mr.  Skilling believes, in general, that suitable gainful employment has regularly been available to Employee.

Mr. Skilling presented the 16 jobs identified for Employee to Dr. Fu.  Dr. Fu 

specifically approved 13 of these jobs as appropriate for Employee.  


Mr. Skilling prepared four reports in this case.  Three ofthese reports were submitted to us, and served on Employee's attorney, oh or about August 10, 1988.  The final report was presented at the September 16, 1988 hearing and was admitted into our file

without objection by Employee.

The record in this case originally closed on September 16,1988 .  On October 4, 

1988 Employee filed her petition to reopen. Employee argued that the record should be

 supplemented to include a Notice of Decision from the Social Security Administration on

 Employee's request for reconsideration which found that Employee is disabled from engaging in

 suitable gainful employment.  Employee also argued that the record should be supplemented for consideration of an affidavit from Ms. Blais concerning information provided in Mr. Skilling's reports. on October 7, 1988 Defendants opposed this petition.


Employee was paid TTD compensation from July 13, 1987 to May 22, 1988.  Employee claims that she is entitled to further TTD or PTD compensation from May 1988 to the present and continuing, statutory minimum attorney's fees, costs and interest.  Defendants argue that Employee is not entitled to additional compensation benefits.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1.
Petition to Reopen and Supplement the Record


We first consider Employee's petition to reopen the record to submit additional evidence not previously available.  Employee first seeks to supplement the record to include the September 7, 1988 Notice of Decision from the Social Security Administration.  Employee asserts that this decision was not received until September 23, 1988, following the September 16, 1988 hearing.
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Employee argues that this decision is relevant to the present proceedings pursuant to Defendants' reliance at hearing on Employee's ‑testimony that she had initially been denied Social Security benefits and the implication that this denial reflected that Employee was riot sufficiently disabled to prevent her from working.

Defendants object to the reopening of the record to include this decision.  Defendants 

assert that this decision is not admissible under 8 AAC 45.120 because it was not submitted 20 days

prior to hearing and is not an exception to the hearsay rule under Alaska Rules of Evidence, Rule 

803 (8) (b) . Defendants also argue that this decision is not relevant because "a determination of

eligibility for SSI benefits does nothing to aed the Board in determining whether a work‑related disability exists in this case, to what extent it might exist and the period during which it might be saed to exist.”  (Defendants” October 6, 1988 opposition, p.2).


Employee also seeks to reopen the record to include an affidavit from Ms. Blais Employee argues that this affidavit should be considered because Ms. Blais did not have an opportunity

to review Mr. Skilling's vocational ‑rehabilitation reports prior to

hearing.


Defendants also object to the reopening of the record to include this affidavit.  Defendants again assert that this affidavit is not admissable because it was not submitted 20 days prior to hearing and is not an exception to the heargav rule.  Defendants additionally argue that the record in this case was closed at the conclusion of the hearing and that to allow Ms. Blais to supplement her testimony by an affidavit filed following the hearing would deny Defendants' rights of cross‑examination and rebuttal and would make a mockery of the hearing process.


We believe that Employee's present petition should be considered in light of pr nciples applicable to our authority to review, modify or rehear matters under AS 23.30.30.130 which provides:

Upon its own initiative, or upon the application of any party in interest on the ground of a change in conditions, including, for the purposes of AS 23,30.175, a change in residence, or because of a mistake " the determination of a fact, the board may, before one year after the date of the last payment of compensation, whether or not a compensation order has been issued, or before one year after the rejection of a claim, review a compensation case " accordance with the procedure prescribed in respect of claims in AS 23.30.110. in accordance with AS 23.30.110 the board may issue a new compen sation order which terminates, continues, reinstates, increases, or

                        decreases the pen sation, or award compensation.
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Our Supreme Court discussed 5130 in Interior Paint Companyv.Rodgers, 522 P.2d 161, 168 

(Alaska 1987).  Quoting from O'Keeffev.Aerojet‑General Shipyards,,_Inc., 404 U.S. 254, 256, (1971) the

court stated: "The plain import of this amendment [adding "mistake in a determination of fact" as a ground for review] was to vest a deputy commissioner with broad discretion to correct mistakes of fact whether demonstrated by wholly new evidence, cumulative evidence, or merely further reflection on the evidence initially submitted."

The Court went on to say:

The concept of mistake requires careful inte‑rpretation. it is clear that an allegation of mistake should not be allowed to become a back‑door route to retrying a case because one party thinks he can make a better showing on the second attempt." 3 Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation §81.52, at 354,8 (1971).

Although the Board "may" review a compensation case, and this review can consist merely of further reflection on the evidence initially submitted, it is an altogether different matter to hold that the Board must go over all prior evidence every‑ time an action is instituted under AS 23,30.130(a). Such a requirement would rob the Board of the discretion so emphatically unheld in O'Keeffe V. Ae.rojet‑General Shipyards,‑Inc., supra.


id. at 169.


Given these principles, and the facts of this case, we believe that a reasonable basis exists to reopen the record to include the above decision from the Social Security Administration.  Employee testified at hearing that she was not able to return to work.  Employee additionally testified that she had applied for disability beneifts from the Social Security administration, had initially been denied, but that a request for reconsideration was pending.  Employee now asserts that a decision on her request for reconsideration was received following the hearing.  Given these facts we find that the Social Security's decision was not available until after the hearing and provides some arguably relevant supporting or explanatory evidence concerning testimony presented at hearing.  This testimony includes Employee's statements that she feels unable to return to work at present and that she had originally been denied Social Security benefits.


In concluding to reopen the record to include this decision we note that while this decision may be hearsay under Evidence Rule 803 (8) (b) , it is nevertheless appropriate for us to consider this evidence for the purpose of supplementing or explaining direct evidence under 8 AAC 45.110. We also note that our decision to consider this evidence is not a determination of the weight which this evidence should be given in resolving the present issues.  It is simply a determination that the evidence was not reasonably
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available before the hearing all has sufficient relevancy to be included as part of the our file.


Given the above Principle, find, however, that a reasonable basis exists to reopen the record

to include the affidavit of Ms. Blais.  We find that the testimony provided by Ms. Blais in@her present affidavit relates to facts which were reasonably avai able to Employee at the time of hearing.  we believe that the reopening of the record to include this affidavit would substantially deny Defendants' right of

 cross‑examination and would substantially frustrate the hearing process including the process of closing 

records.

 
The first three of Dr. SkilliRg's reports were available to

Emplovee, for considers n by Ms. Blai5, on or about August 10, 1988 . The fourth report was admitted into our file at hearing, without objection by Employee.  Ms. Blais testified at hearing and was available at that ti to testify concerning Mr. Skilling's reports.  The record clzd at the conclusion of the hearing.  Given these facts we believe Employee was provided a full and fair opportunity to present evidence concerning her position in this matter, including testimony from Ms. Blais, at the September 16, 1988 hearing.  We deny Employee's petition to reopen the record to submit additional evidence from Ms. Blais.

11.
Temporary Total Disability


We next consider Employee's claim for TTD benefits from May 19 8 8 to the present and continuing.  The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment." AS 23.30.265(10). The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable week wage while the disability is "total in character but temporary in quality,” AS 23.30.185, but doesn’t define TTD.  In Phillips Petroleum Co.  V.  Alaska Industrial Board, 17 Alaska 658, 665 (D. Alaska 1958) (quoting Corman v.  Atlantic Gulf & Pacific Co., 178 Md. 71,12 A.2d 525, 529 (1940), the Alaska territorial court defined TTD as “the healing period or the time during which the workman is wholly disabled and unable by reason of his injury to work.”  The court explained:

A claimant is entitled to compensation for temporary total di sability during the period of convalescence and during which time the claimant is unable to work, and the employer remains liable for tota compensa ion until such time as the claimant is restored to the condition so far as his injury will permit.  The test is whether the claimant remains incapacitated to do work by reason of his injury, regardless of whether the injury at some time can be diagnosed as a permanent partial disability.
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17 Alaska at 666 (citations omitted).  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmenis Com2ensation Board, 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974) the Alaska Supreme Court stated;

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but ‑rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work‑connected injury or illness.


In Bailey v. Litwin Corp., 713 P.2d 249, 253 (Alaska 1986), the Alaska Supreme Court set out this same authority and then stated: "Our previous cases stress the claimant's ability to return to work and indicate that medical stability is not necessarily the point at which temporary disability cease5." (Emphasis in original).  The court also quoted the following description of temporary disability: "Temporary disability may be total (incapable of performing 2ny kind of work), or partial (capable of performing some kind of work)." id. at 254 n.12 (quoting Huston v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Bd., 95 Cal, App. 3d 856, 868, 157 Cal.  Rptr. 355, 262 (Cal.  App. 1979) (emphasis in original),


The Alaska Supreme Court has placed the burden of proving loss of earning capacity, at least in the area of permanent partial disability, on the employee. Brunke v. Rogers & Babler, 714 P.2d 795, 801 (Alaska 1986).  We have also found that an employee bears the burden of proving whether or not he is disabled and the nature and extent of the disability. Keves v. Reeve Aleution Airways, AWCB No. 85‑0312 at 12‑13 (November 8, 1985),


Temporary total disability f or unscheduled injuries continues while an employee, whose condition is medically stable, is pursuing an approved vocational rehabilitation program.  Bignell
v.
Wise Mechanical Contractors, 651 P.2d 1163 (Alaska 1982).


In the present case, we do not find that the weight of the evidence supports a conclusion that Employee is entitled to additionalTTD compensation from May 1988 to the present and continuing.  Instead, we find that the evidence supports aconclusion that Employee's medical condition, relating to the January 28,
1985 work‑related accident, stabilized before May of

1988 and that this medical condition has not prevented Employee from returning to work since May of 1988. our conclusion that Employee has been able to return to work is discussed in detail in the section of this Decision and order relating to Employee's claim for PTD benefits.  Our conclusion that Employee'i@; medical condition stabilized before May of 1988 is discussed below.


Employee testified that she suffered injuries to her right ankle, right hip and side, lower back and left index finger as a result of the January 28, 1985 incident.  Employee began seeing Dr,
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Geiringer in Anchorage for her right ankle and left index finger problems in October 1985. on March 31, 1986 Dr. Geiringer reported that Employee's foot problem was treated.  He referred Employee to Dr. Fu for rehabilitation on May 161 1986 Ms. Double reported that Dr. Geiringer felt that Employee's foot should now be reaching medical stability.

on January 22, 1987 Dr. Fu reported that he would schedule Employee for a permanent 

impairment rating.  On February 26, 1987  Dr. Fu rated Employee as having a seven percent

 impairment of the leg or three percent impairment of the whole person.on March 12, 1987 Dr. Fu

 reported that Employee had no hip impairment and that Employee's low back disc fort, neck

 discomfort and headaches were to her On May 5, 1987 Dr. Fu reported not related ankle injury.

that Employee's medical condition was not changing and that he saw no reason to see her often.

We believe that this evidence supports a conclusion that Employee's physical condition, 

related to the January 28, 1985 accident, became stable an stationary by at least February of 1987

 when Dr. Fu provided an . airment rating for Employee's leg.  In'‑MP so concluding we note that

 Employee has continued to complain of various right ankle, right hip and side, lower back and left

 index finger problems.  However, Employee did not testify that her condition has substantially changed since February of 1987.  Given the fact that Employee’s physical condition has been

 medically stable and stationary since February of 1987 and the fact, discussed in detail hel work

 since at least that Employee has been able to return to of 1988 notwithstanding her medical

 condition related to the January 28, 1985 accident, we find that Employee is not entitled t TTD from

 May of 1988 to the present and continuing.                  7


In so concluding we note that it is undisputed that Employee is not entitled to TTD compensation from May 1988 to the present and continuing on the ground that she is, or should be, participating in an approved vocational rehabilitation program.  Vocational rehabilitation assistance was provided to Employee through approximately January 1, 1988.  On May 11, 1988 Ms. Torgerson found that Employee was not entitled to further vocational rehabilitation services.  This finding was not appealed by either party.

111. 
Permanent Total DIsability


We next consider address Employee's claim for PTD compensation from May of 1988 to the present and continuing.  Permanent total disability compensation is awarded pursuant to AS 23.30.180. In J.B. Warrack Companv v. Roan, 418 'P.2d 986, 988 (Alaska 1966), the Alaska Supreme Court discussed the test to be applied in
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determining PTD:

For workman's compensation purposes total disability does not necessarily mean a state of abject helplessness.  It means the inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist.  The evidence here discloses that [claimant] is a carpenter but is unable to physically follow that trade.  He is not qualified by education or experience to do other than odd jobs provided they are not physically taxing.  As the Supreme Court of Nebraska has pointed out, the ,odd job' man is a nondescript in the labor market, with whom industry has little patience and rarely hires.  Work, if appellee could find any that he could do, most likely be casual and intermittent.  In these circumstances we believe the Board was justified in finding that appellee was entitled to an award of permanent total disability under the Alaska Workmen'5 Compensation Act.


In the Law of Workers' Compensation, section 117.51, pp. 10‑164.68, 10‑164.84(18), 10‑ 164.84(24), and 10‑164.84(37)10‑164.84.(38), Professor Larsen discusses the "odd‑lot" doctrine:

Under the odd‑lot doctrine, which is accepted in virtually every jurisdiction, total disability may be found in the case of workers who, while not altogether incapacitated for work, are so handicapped that they will not be employed regularly in any well‑known branch of the labor market.  The essence of the test is the probable dependability with which claimant can sell his services in a competitive labor market, undistorted by such factors as business booms, sympathy of a particular employer or friends, temporary good luck, or the superhuman efforts of the claimant to rise above his crippling handicaps . . .

A considerable number of the odd‑lot cases involve claimants whose adaptability to the new situation created by physical injury was constricted by lack of mental capacity or education.  This is a sensible result, since it is a matter of common observation that a man whose sole stock in trade has been the capacity to perform physical movements, and whose ability to make those movements has been impaired by injury, is under a severe disadvantage in acquiring a dependable new means of livelihood.


In Hewing v. Peter Kiewit & Sons, 586 P.2d 183, 185 (Alaska 1978) the Alaska Supreme Court discussed the application of the ,.odd‑lot" doctrine to a 55‑year‑old cement mason, with practically no education, who was no longer able to enter the manual labor market because of an industrial injury, but who had been able to engage in the sale of barbecue, used furniture and other items.  The court discussed whether the employee's lack of motivation to return to work was an appropriate consideration.  "For lack of motivation to be significant, there must be a showing that work is available within the employee's capabilities."


In the present case we believe the issue to be considered in determining whether Employee is entitled to PTD from May of 1988 to the present and continuing is whether a reasonably stable market
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of employment has existed for Employee during this period, given her age, education, work 4story and physical problems associated with the January 28, 1985 incident. we must particularly consider whether any jobs which m have existed during this period provided a regular and corLtinuo:ys source of employment for Employee or whether these jobs were so casual and intermittent that they fall within the "odd‑lot" category.



We believe that the weight of the evidence in this case supports a conclusion that regular and continuous employment has been available to Employee from May of 1988 to the present which is not so casual or intermittent that it falls within the "odd‑lot" category.  This conclusion is based on jobs identified for Employee by various vocational rehabilitation counselors, both in the Fairbanks and Anchorage job markets, which have been regularly and continuously available and which generally provide ari income similar to that earned Employee prior to her work‑related injury.  These jobs are thin Employee's physical limitations associated with her January 28, 1985 work‑related injury and are within her age, educational background and prior work history.  Given our initial conclusion that these jobs are available we believe that Employee's fLure to return to work is a result of various physical problems which have arisen since the January 28, 1985 injury, unassociated with this injury, and with a general lack of motivation on Employee'@ part to return to work.



Employee worked as a nurses' aide, tagger and housekeeper prior to her January 28, 1985 injury.  She was paid $7.89 per hour for her full‑time work as a housekeeper at the time of her injury.

In
June of 1985 Dr. Joosee provided an initial PCE for employee.  This PCE 

reflected that Employee could sit for eight hours per day, stand and walk one hour per day, lift up to 50 pounds occasionally and bend, squat, climb, twist, crawl and reach above shoulder level occasionally.  In July of 1985 APS, Employee's; first vocational rehabilitation provider, prepared a transferrable skills assessment using Employee's physical capabilities and educational level.  APS found Employee's job possibilities were limited, and might require short‑time job training, but did include work as a laundry worker, sorter/pricer and cleaner (lab equipment).  APS subsequently contacted several employers, including the Salvation Army, Bishop's Attic and Lamonts who expressed interest in hiri g Employee or the possible availability of work in the fut4re.7 Work with Lamonts would have paid approximately $5.00 per hour.



In August of 1985 PS prepared a vocational rehabilitation services plan for Employee as a sorter/tagger, self‑service attendant or cashier.  APS reported that these positions appeared to be ‑readily available in the market and did not require extensive reading, standing or walking.  APS recommended that Employee

‑21‑

 Farmie M. Summerville v. Denali Center

participate in an adult reading program with the expectation that Employee would demonstrate considerable improvement within 90 days.  No further action was taken on these issues as a result of Employee's move to Anchorage,



Following her move to Anchorage further vocational rehabilitation assistance was provided by Ms. Double with Collins and Associates.  Ms. Double initially reported that she had reached Employee in October of 1985 after "multitudinous" attempts.  Ms. Double also recommended that Employee attend adult education classes.



In November 1985 Employee reported to Ms. Double that she was experiencing gynecological problems, headaches and intermittent sweating.  Employee did not want to interact with any other individvals or receive assistance for reading or writing until at least the first of the year.



In January 1985 Dr. Geiringer reported that Employee complained of epigastric pain. in March 1986 Dr, Geiringer reported that Employee's foot problem was treated. in May 1986 Dr. Fu reported that Employee had numerous problems unassociated with her right ankle injury including ongoing chronic sinusitis and headaches.



In May 1986 Ms. Double reported that Employee felt severely incapacitated.  In June 1986 Dr. Enter reported that Employee clearly evidenced an over‑concern about physical and health related matters.  In July of 1986 Dr. Fu reported that Employee could be involved in a sedentary or

 voluntary program while in physical therapy.  In September and October 1986 Dr. Fu reported that

Employee could start an OJT program and get involved with adult education, Employee 

subsequently participated in adult education and increased her reading level from a very low fourth

 grade to a medium sixth grade level.



In December 1986 Ms. Scott, another vocational rehabilitation counselor with Collins and Associates, informed Employee of the availability of a front desk clerk job.  Employee responded that she was interested in settling her case.  Ms. Scott reported Dr. Fuls concerns with Employee's motivation to return to work.



In February 1987 Employee was admitted to the hospital with chest pains.  On February 26, 1987 Dr. Fu rated Employee as having a seven percent impairment of the leg. in March 1987 Dr. Fu prepared R second PCE for Employee which reflected that Employee could sit eight hours per day, stand and walk four hours day, lift up to 20 pounds occasionally, squat and climb occasionally, bend and crawl frequently and twist and reach above shoulder level continuously.  Dr. Fu noted that Employee had various other problems, including mental problems, anxiety, headaches, sinusitis, low back discomfort and neck discomfort, which were not related to her ankle injury.

‑22‑

 Fannie M‑ Summerville v. Denali Center


In March 1987 Ms. Scott reported that Employee was not happy with Dr. Fu's rating and wanted to settle her case.  Employee stated that her various physical problems prevented her from returning to work.


in April 1987 Ms. Scott reported that a full‑time job had been identified for Employee as a counterperson.  Dr. Fu approved this job.  Employee reported, however, that she was not able to return to work and wanted to settle her case.


In May 1987 Employee gave Dr. Fu a letter from SCC indicating that she was 'unable to work because of an anxiety disorder.  Dr. Fu repcrZ that Employee's condition was not changing. 

 Dr. Fu again acknowledged that he had approved work for Employee as a counter person

 assembling and marking clothes.  Employee indicated that not take the position due to her various

 physical problems including headaches, a heart hernia, psychiatric problems and problems with her

 hip, leg and ankle.


In Julv 1987 Ms. Scott and Employee again discussed a possible job opening as @

 counter person.  Dr. Fu reported that this job was well within Employee's capabilities given her right

 ankle problem and her other medical problems.  Employee stated that she might not be able to do

 this job because she might be allergic to fumes and chemicals and was illiterate.  Employee would

 have been paid $6.50 per hour as a full‑time employee on this job.

in October 1987 a vocational rehabilitation plan was signed

by all parties for Employee to return to work in a dry cleaning establishment as a counter attendant.

 in November 1987 Dr. Fu prepared another PCE reflecting that Employee could sit, stand or walk

 for four hours in a normal working day, lift up to 35 pounds occasionally, bend frequently and

 occasionally squat, climb, twist, crawl a‑rid reach above shoulder level occasionally.  Dr. Fu said

 that Employee was using a cane primarily for safety and not for weight‑bearing relief.


In November and December 1987. Ms. Blais, another rehabilitation counselor with Collins and

 Associates, assisted Employee in seeking work in various fields including laundry, child care and

 adult care work.  Ms. 131ais testified that she located approximately 69 job leads over a 60‑day

 period.  Ms. Blais felt that Employee was unsuccessful in finding laundry work because jobs were

 not available and because this work would have required some training; that efforts to place

 Employee in the child care field were discontinued based on Dr. Williams' December 17, 1987

 letter; and that Employee was not successful in finding work in the adult care field because of the  

variety of physical problems reported by Employee on ger work applications.


In February 1988 Employee was admitted to the hospital complaining of chest pain.  In April

 1988 Dr. Williams reported that work was an unrealistic goal for Employee given a number of
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disabilities which Employee reported which were not compatible with the work environment including an inability to stand or sit for long periods, headaches, confusion, impaired memory, hypersensitivity to noise and difficulty concentrating.


In April 1988 Ms. Moran, of Collins and Associates, reported that three dry cleaning establishments had advertised for help since January 1988 and that it was clear that there were intermittent openings for counter help.  Ms. Moran noted concern with Employee's lack of movement since 1985 in pursuing remedial education.


At hearing Mr. Skilling testified that he had identified 13 areas of work, in the Anchorage area, which he believed were within Employee's capabilities given her age, education, previous experience and physical limitations relating to the January 28, 1985 work‑related accident.  Mr. Skilling believes that Employee is able to do these jobs notwithstanding her limited educational skills.  These employments pay between $5.00 and $15.00 per hour.  They were approved by Dr. Fu.  Mr. Skilling testified that, in general, suitable gainful employment has regularly been available to Employee.


Employee does not believe that she can return to work.  She particularly does not believe that she could have done any of the jobs for which she applied during the 60‑day period she received job placement assistance from Collins and Associates.  She asserts that she suffers from a variety of physical problems including some associated, and some uiias5ociated, with her January 28, 1985 work‑related incident.


We find that this evidence supports a conclusion that employment has regularly been available to Employee, since at least May 1988, within Employee's physical limitations associated with her January 28, 1985 work‑related incident, and within Employee's age, educational background and prior work history.  In so concluding we recognize that the available jobs are limited given her age, physical limitations associated with the January 28, 1985 incident and, in particular, her lack of educational skills.  We believe, however, that the weight of the evidence supports a conclusion that work has regularly been available for Employee despite, particularly, her lack of educational skills.  This conclusion is supported by substantial evidence including the testimony of Dr. Skilling who identified various available jobs with" Employee's limited educational skills and who testified, having reviewed Employee's work history and various testing results, that Employee is capable of learning "job specific" skills.  This conclusion is also supported by testimony from several of Employee's vocational rehabilitation counselors who identified potential work for Employee notwithstanding her limited educational skills.

‑24‑

 Fannie M. Summerville v. Denali center


Having concluded that regular work is available we find that substantial causes of Employee's failure to return to work include physical problems which have arisen since the January 28, 1985 incident and which are unassociated with this incident and Employee's general lack of motivation to return to work.  We therefore deny and dismiss her claim for PTD compensation from May 1988 to the present and continuing.


Given the decision set forth above we also deny and dismiss Employee's claim for

 statutory minimum attorney's fees, costs and interest.
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ORDER
  
1. Employee's petition to reopen the record to include the September 7, 1988 Social

 Security  Administration's Notice of Decision is granted.

2.
Employee's petition to reopen the record to include the October 4, 1988 affidavit from 

Terry Blais is denied.

3. Employee's claim for TTD and PTD compensation from May 1988 to the present and 

continuing is denied and dismissed.

                  4. Employee's claim for statutory minimum attorney's fees, costs and interest is denied and dismissed.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska, this 16th day of November 1988.

ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

Thatcher R. %eeb@, Designated Chairman

Thatcher R. Bebe, Designated Chairman


/s/ Darrell F. Smith,                                      

Darrell F. Smith, Member


/s/ T.J. Thrasher                                           

T.J. Thrasher, Member

TRB.fs

If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 20 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.

APPEAL PROCEDURES

A compensation order may be appealed through proceedings in Supericr Court brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

A compensation order becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board, and unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted, it becomes final oil the 31st day after it is filed.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and order in the matter of Fannie M. Summerville, employee/applicant; v. Denali Center, employer; and Fidelity and Casualty/U.A.C., insurer/defendants; Case No. 501378; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation  Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 16th day of November  1988.

Clerk
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